FILED 12-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP1140

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel.
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,
DIVISION OF COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

BRIAN HAYES, ADMINISTRATOR, DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS,

Respondent-Appellant,

KEYO SELLERS,

Intervenor-Co-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. McADAMS, PRESIDING

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner

#### INTRODUCTION

This certiorari case involves a challenge by the Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) to a decision made by Brian Hayes, Administrator of the Division of Hearings and Appeals (DHA). DHA reversed an administrative law judge's (ALJ) revocation of Keyo Sellers's probation after he was criminally charged with sexually assaulting a stranger, K.A.B., in her home, and later trespassed on her property.

K.A.B. did not testify at the revocation hearing to avoid retraumatizing her and because she could not readily identify her attacker, but DOC presented evidence including the police report; the victim's report to DOC; DNA evidence and testimony supporting it; video evidence of Sellers on the victim's porch days after the assault, peeping into her home; the probation agent's testimony that the man on the porch was Sellers; and the fact of the victim's report to police, submission to a SANE examination, and immediate purchase of surveillance equipment after the attack.

The ALJ concluded that DOC had proved the violations without relying exclusively on out-of-court statements. But on appeal, DHA concluded that the statements were necessary to prove the "account of events." Although Sellers had not objected to their use or the victim's absence from the hearing, DHA concluded sua sponte that the use of those statements would violate Sellers's due-process rights because they were hearsay. It then held that DOC failed to prove the probation violations. On certiorari review, the circuit court reversed DHA; but on appeal, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court. DHA's decision is the focus here.

In reversing the revocation decision on appeal, DHA misunderstood the law in two ways. First, DHA failed to consider whether all the non-hearsay evidence in the record supported a finding that Sellers committed the probation

violations of sexual assault and trespass, even if it believed it could not consider K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements. Second, DHA misunderstood what due process requires in a revocation setting and imposed a rule even stricter than in a criminal proceeding. The U.S. Supreme Court held in *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 487, 489–90 (1972), that while an offender has a conditional right to confront the victim, the revocation process should be flexible enough to consider materials that would not be admissible in an adversarial criminal trial.

Lastly, in deferring to DHA's "findings," the court of appeals did not properly apply the standard of review in certiorari actions where the agency makes an error of law. The court of appeals ignored DHA's legal errors and affirmed on the theory that it could have reached the decision it did had DHA reviewed the evidence in the record. But a reviewing court cannot ignore an agency's legal errors under the concept of "substantial evidence": certiorari review requires the court to consider whether the agency's decision conformed to law.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Even if a sexual-assault victim's out-of-court statements are found inadmissible, must the agency in a revocation proceeding still consider whether other unobjected-to, non-hearsay evidence supports a finding of the probation violations?

DHA's decision did not consider the remaining evidence presented by DOC, none of which was objected to by Sellers.

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court.

2. a probationer's conditional right confront a sexual-assault victim under *Morrissey* allow an agency to consider the victim's out-of-court statements?

The ALJ did not address this issue because she believed there was sufficient other evidence that she did not need to rely on those statements. DHA disagreed, treating the statements as needed but inadmissible purely because they were hearsay.

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court.

3. Where an agency commits an error of law about its ability to consider certain evidence and thus fails to consider it, does a reviewing court properly ignore that error and simply consider the remaining evidence under certiorari review?

DHA did not address this issue.

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are appropriate.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Factual background

A. Sellers was convicted of delivering narcotics as party to a crime, received an imposed-and-stayed sentence, and was placed on probation for three years.

On February 18, 2019, Sellers was convicted of one count of delivery of schedule I or II narcotics as party to a crime in Milwaukee County Case No. 17-CF-4997. (R. 7:51; 8:1.) The circuit court imposed and stayed a sentence of 30 months of initial confinement followed by 30 months of extended supervision. (R. 7:51.) Sellers was placed on probation for three years. (R. 7:51.) His rules of supervision required him to "[a]void all conduct which is in violation of federal or state statute . . . or which is not in the best interest of the public welfare or [his] rehabilitation." (R. 8:15.)

B. Police received a report from K.A.B. of a home invasion, sexual assault, and theft; security cameras K.A.B. installed immediately after captured the same man trespassing on her porch, peeping into her window.

On September 15, 2021, police received a report of a stranger home invasion and sexual assault. The victim, K.A.B., reported that a man entered her home without her consent. (R. 7:16, 33–34 (K.A.B.'s Jan. 25, 2022, statement to DOC), 40 (probable cause statement and judicial determination).) While there, he sexually assaulted her and took \$30 without her consent. (R. 7:16, 34–35, 40.)

K.A.B.'s January 25, 2022, statement to DOC provided a detailed account of the assault (R. 7:33–37), and was consistent with the narrative account of the assault and trespass stated in a probable cause statement and judicial determination signed by a circuit court commissioner on

December 30, 2021, finding probable cause to hold Sellers in jail custody (R. 7:40–42).

According to K.A.B.'s account, a man entered her house when she was asleep on the couch in her living room. (R. 7:33.) The man appeared suddenly and walked into the living room carrying a large knife. (R. 7:34.) He smelled strongly of cigarettes and alcohol and wore a red bandana that covered his nose and mouth. (R. 7:34.)

The man ordered K.A.B. upstairs, where he ordered her to remove her clothes. (R. 7:34.) He ordered her to lie on her stomach and then put his fingers inside her vagina, forcing them in and out, telling her he had been watching her for a year and going inside her house when she walked her dog. (R. 7:34.) He appeared to use his phone as a flashlight, told her to look into his phone's camera, and appeared to take a photo. (R. 7:35.)

After he was finished assaulting K.A.B., he picked up the knife and asked K.A.B. if she had any money. (R. 7:35.) She gave him \$30 from her pants pocket. (R. 7:35.) He told her to wait until she heard him leave before calling the police. (R. 7:35.) K.A.B. went downstairs minutes later and called 911. (R. 7:35–36.)

Police arrived, interviewed her, and then took her to the hospital. (R. 7:36; 8:90.) K.A.B. consented to a sexual-assault (SANE) examination, including samples from her vaginal area. (R. 7:46; 8:90, 110.)

Shortly after the assault, K.A.B. arranged to have a security system installed with cameras at every entrance to her home and glass-break sensors. (R. 7:36; 8:90.) Only a few days after the installation, during the early morning of September 22, that camera took two different videos, four minutes apart, of a man standing on K.A.B.'s porch, peeping into her window. (R. 7:36, 1 (noting that DHA filed a CD labeled Exhibit #6 in the circuit court containing video files);

R. 65–67 (granting a motion to supplement the record).) K.A.B. believed that the man in the videos was the same man who sexually assaulted her based upon his height, weight, approximate age, receding hairline, prominent forehead, and cigarette tucked behind his ear. (R. 7:37.)

#### C. Sellers was charged with and convicted of second-degree sexual assault and burglary.

On December 29, 2021, Sellers turned himself into custody at the Milwaukee Police Department. (R. 7:38–39.) Pursuant to a warrant, buccal swabs were taken from him for analysis at the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratories. (R. 7:43.) DNA material found on K.A.B.'s pubic area after her sexual-assault examination was consistent with Sellers's profile. (R. 7:48; 8:110, 114.)

On January 12, 2022, Sellers was charged in Milwaukee County case number 22-CF-0136 for his actions at K.A.B.'s residence with (1) second-degree sexual assault/use of force, a class C felony, and (2) burglary-room within a building, etc., a class F felony. (R. 7:44–45.)

Sellers's criminal trial was delayed several times. Per CCAP, it was set for May 9, September 6, and October 24, 2022; April 3, July 24, and November 6, 2023; and April 1, and August 5, 2024. State of Wis. v. Keyo Anthony Sellers, Case No. 22-CF-0136 (Milwaukee Cnty.), http://wcca.wicourts.gov/. On October 24, 2022, nine law enforcement officers who would testify were present in court. But the state could not proceed because of a trial that day in another court. On July 24, 2023, the court could not proceed due to a trial commencing that day in an unrelated case in the same branch. The same thing happened on November 6, 2023. On April 1, 2024, defense counsel advised the court that Sellers was hospitalized, and the trial was again adjourned.

Sellers's case was tried to a jury August 6 through 8, 2024, and he was convicted of second-degree sexual assault with the use of force and burglary. He failed to return to the courtroom during a break in the proceedings, and the circuit court issued a bench warrant and ordered that Sellers forfeited \$20,000 cash bail.

Sellers has not been returned on the bench warrant, he remains free, and sentencing has not been scheduled.

#### II. Procedural history of the revocation

A. DOC initiated revocation proceedings based upon Sellers's assaulting K.A.B., taking her money, trespassing at her home, and lying to his probation agent.

In March 2022, DOC initiated revocation proceedings. (R. 7:16–17.) DOC alleged that Sellers violated his rules of supervision by (1) entering K.A.B.'s residence without her consent on September 15, 2021; (2) shoving his fingers into her vagina without her consent; (3) taking \$30 from her without her consent; (4) trespassing at her home on September 22, 2021; and (5) providing false information to his agent on February 4, 2022. (R. 7:16.) Sellers contested the first four allegations and stipulated to the fifth. (R. 8:80–81.)

B. The ALJ heard testimony and received evidence and issued a decision revoking Sellers's probation.

On March 29 and May 4, 2022, Sellers appeared with counsel before ALJ Martha Carlson at a revocation hearing. (R. 8:77, 124.) DOC appeared by probation agent Geraldine Kellen. (R. 8:77, 124.)

1. DOC presented witness testimony, documents, videos, and audio files to prove Sellers's rules violations.

In support of alleged rules violations 1 through 4, DOC presented the testimony of Michelle Burns, an analyst with

the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratories who analyzed K.A.B.'s sexual-assault kit and Sellers's buccal swabs; Agent Kellen; and Officer Michael Walker, who is assigned to the Sensitive Crimes Division at the Milwaukee Police Department and was involved in investigating K.A.B.'s assault and the trespass on her porch. (R. 8:86–137.)

Analyst Burns testified regarding the analysis she performed on K.A.B.'s sexual-assault kit and Sellers's buccal swab. (R. 8:104–21.) She prepared a DNA report. (R. 8:105; 7:46–50 (report).) She testified that, based upon Y-STR DNA analysis she completed, a male DNA profile was developed from "the non-sperm fraction of the mons pubis swabs collected from the kit from [K.A.B.]." (R. 8:110.) "[T]he data that was returned was consistent with Mr. Sellers' profile." (R. 8:110.) On cross-examination, Analyst Burns confirmed that the "profile that [she] got as a result of the STR testing is consistent with Keyo Sellers." (R. 8:114.)

Analyst Burns explained that a profile match on a Y-STR DNA analysis would not necessarily exclude male individuals from the same genetic background, such as a father, son, full siblings, or even half siblings, if they share a father. (R. 8:110–11.) They would share the same Y-STR DNA profile. (R. 8:111.) Additionally, other unrelated males could share the same profile. Specifically, Analyst Burns testified that, as a "statistical estimate," "the DNA that [she] found that matches Mr. Sellers could also match one in every 278 African Americans." (R. 8:116.) Based upon census data, Sellers's counsel asked the ALJ to take judicial notice of the fact that there would be 289 African Americans in Milwaukee who would match Sellers's DNA profile. (R. 8:116–17, 55 (data Sellers's counsel relied upon).)

Agent Kellen testified that she had supervised Sellers since October 2019. (R. 8:128.) She authored the revocation summary. (R. 8:128.) She viewed the surveillance videos from K.A.B.'s ADT security system and was "99%" certain that "it

Filed 12-12-2024

was Mr. Sellers [in the videos] based on his appearance, based on his walk, and based on the fact that [she] supervised him, you know, for almost 18 months." (R. 8:129.) Agent Kellen met with K.A.B. in person, took a written statement from her, and spoke to her a few times after that on the phone. (R. 8:130.)

Officer Walker investigated a porch-trespass complaint at K.A.B.'s residence one week after the assault. (R. 8:90.) He testified that, the day after the assault, K.A.B. had ADT security cameras installed around her house. (R. 8:90.) On September 22, 2021, K.A.B. reported to police that an unknown black male was prowling on her front porch. (R. 8:90–91.) Patrol officers obtained video footage from the security cameras and gave it to Officer Walker. (R. 8:91.) He spoke to K.A.B. and then gave the video footage to the Greenfield Police Department to run through facial-recognition software. (R. 8:91.) The software generated a report (that is not in the record), and three of Sellers's Milwaukee County Jail booking photos found in the software's database matched at 98.2%, 92.7%, and 85.5%, respectively, to video-still images from the security-camera footage of the man on K.A.B.'s porch. (R. 8:91–92.)

Officer Walker testified that he or his colleague showed the video-still images to K.A.B., and she believed that the man in the images was her assailant based upon their similar stature, height and weight, his walk, receding hairline, etc. (R. 8:92–93.) Two of Officer Walker's colleagues at the police department interviewed Sellers's ex-wife, Jacquelyn Rule, and showed her the video stills. (R. 8:93–94.) Ms. Rule identified Sellers in the stills. (R. 8:94.) Officer Walker testified that K.A.B. was shown two photo lineups that included photos of Sellers in them, but K.A.B. did not identify Sellers as her assailant from the photos. (R. 8:99.)

Officer Walker also testified about the investigation his colleagues performed. He testified that Detective Ka Yeng Kue interviewed K.A.B. the night she was assaulted. (R. 8:87.)

Officer Walker testified that K.A.B. reported to police that around 2:30 a.m. on September 15, 2021, she was sexually assaulted by a man who broke into her home, took \$30 from her, and then fled the scene. (R. 8:88.) K.A.B. phoned the police, who arrived shortly thereafter. (R. 8:88–89.) She described the assailant as a black male, late thirties or early forties, receding hairline, 180 to 200 pounds, smelling strongly of cigarettes and alcohol, wearing a white tank top, black pants, and with a red handkerchief covering the lower half of his face. (R. 8:89.)

K.A.B. did not testify at the hearing. Agent Kellen testified that DOC did not subpoena her to testify because "she told the police and she's told [Agent Kellen] she can't 100% ID her assailant," so Agent Kellen "didn't feel it was necessary to have her come in and provide testimony and go through the trauma of her assault to only say that she believes that Mr. Sellers could be the assailant, but she doesn't know 100%." (R. 8:130.) Instead of testifying, K.A.B.'s January 25, 2022, written statement to Agent Kellen was part of the record. (R. 7:33–37; 8:80 (the statement part of revocation-hearing Ex. 1, DOC's revocation packet).) In the statement, K.A.B. recounted the events of September 15, 21, and 22, 2021. (R. 7:33–37.)

Sellers provided statements to DOC on January 12 and March 4, 2022, that are in the record. (R. 7:28–32; 8:80.) He denied ever being on K.A.B.'s property, stated that he was not the person in the security-camera video from K.A.B.'s porch, and denied sexually assaulting anyone. (R. 7:31.) He also stated that "[t]he police will not find any DNA of mine at this crime scene." (R. 7:31.)

Lastly, DOC filed the security-camera video from K.A.B.'s porch showing Sellers trespassing and audio files of calls that Sellers made to his girlfriend while he was in jail custody on a probation hold. (R. 8:58 ("Exhibit 6 from the revocation hearing is a DVD that contains six audio or video

files."); R. 7:1; 65–67 (granting a motion to supplement the record with the disc DOC filed in the revocation proceedings).)

### 2. The ALJ revoked Sellers's probation based upon the five rules violations that she found had occurred.

On May 9, 2022, ALJ Carlson issued a decision revoking Sellers's probation in Milwaukee County Case No. 17-CF-4997. (R. 8:61–66, App. 157–62.)

ALJ Carlson relied upon non-hearsay evidence to find the rules-of-supervision violations. (R. 8:64–65, App. 160–61.) She first explained that "K.A.B. did not provide testimony at the final revocation hearing as the Department did not subpoena her." (R. 8:64, App. 160.) She noted that "[a]lthough hearsay is admissible in a revocation proceeding, that evidence may not form the basis for a revocation decision unless it bears some substantial indicia of reliability." (R. 8:64, App. 160.) She explained that "[t]he submitted crime laboratory report is not hearsay, as Analyst Burns provided testimony at the final revocation hearing." (R. 8:65, App. 161.)

ALJ Carlson then held that "[t]he credible testimony of Analyst Burns confirms that a DNA profile consistent with Mr. Sellers was recovered from K.A.B. There is no credible explanation for why Mr. Sellers' DNA would be on K.A.B. but for the assault." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) She also found that "Mr. Sellers can be seen on surveillance video trespassing onto K.A.B.'s porch and looking into her windows without permission on a later date after the sexual assault occurred. K.A.B. reported that she believed the individual seen on the surveillance video was the same individual who assaulted her based on his physical appearance and mannerisms." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) ALJ Carlson concluded that "allegations 1 – 4 have been established by a preponderance of the evidence." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) Based upon Sellers's stipulation,

ALJ Carlson also found he committed rule violation 5. (R. 8:65, App. 161.) ALJ Carlson determined that revocation was appropriate under *State ex rel. Plotkin v. DHSS*, 63 Wis. 2d 535, 217 N.W.2d 641 (1974). (R. 8:65, App. 161.)

### C. Sellers appealed the revocation, and DHA reversed because K.A.B. did not testify.

Sellers appealed ALJ Carlson's decision to DHA. (R. 8:69–71.) Sellers did not argue a lack of "good cause" for K.A.B. not testifying or assert a due-process violation. (R. 8:69–71.) Instead, he recounted K.A.B.'s January 25, 2022, statement to DOC (R. 8:69–70), and argued that (1) the DNA evidence found on K.A.B. was not his DNA, (2) K.A.B. could not identify him in a photo lineup, (3) cellphone records did not place him at the scene of the assault, and (4) K.A.B.'s statement to police on September 21, 2021, was insufficient to identify him as the man on her porch (R. 8:70–71).

On June 17, 2022, DHA issued a decision reversing ALJ Carlson's revocation decision. (R. 8:72–74, App. 154–56.)

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