**FILED** 01-03-2025 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2023AP1140

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, DIVISION OF COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

Case 2023AP001140

BRIAN HAYES, ADMINISTRATOR, DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS,

Respondent-Appellant,

KEYO SELLERS,

Intervenor-Co-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. McADAMS, **PRESIDING** 

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLANT** ADMINISTRATOR BRIAN HAYES

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Administrator's decision can and should be upheld under the well-established criteria for certiorari review. The first section of this brief analyzes his decision under these criteria, which involves engaging with the very issues of law and fact DOC claims were neglected. As this approach demonstrates, existing law answers all three questions DOC has posed to this Court and supports affirming the Administrator's decision.

The remaining sections of this brief address DOC's three improperly framed questions directly. The law already requires DHA to consider the evidence, and the record shows the Administrator did so. The law already

allows DOC to rely upon hearsay in revocation hearings, but it must show good cause first, which it failed to do in Sellers's case. Finally, the law already requires reviewing courts to evaluate DHA's potential errors of law, and to examine the underlying evidence—and the court of appeals did so. To the extent DOC implies or argues that this Court should rewrite the rules governing the reliance on hearsay in revocation hearings, and revisit the certiorari review standard, the Court should decline to do so.

This Court should uphold the Administrator's decision.

# I. Under the well-settled certiorari review standard, the Administrator's decision should be upheld.

The Administrator's decision not to revoke Sellers's probation should be upheld because the record shows that: 1) he acted within his jurisdiction; 2) he acted according to law; 3) his decision was neither arbitrary and capricious, oppressive, nor unreasonable; and 4) he reasonably made his decision based on the evidence. *Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 10. The court of appeals correctly upheld the Administrator's decision after analyzing these four factors. *Hayes*, 2024 WI App 37, ¶¶ 16–21 (App. 106–109).

Although DOC cites *Simpson* in its Standard of Review, its
Argument immediately veers off track: it significantly misstates the
relevant standards for certiorari review and incorrectly focuses on the
decision of the ALJ, which is not under review. Subhead I.A. of DOC's
Argument reads: "The evidentiary burden for revocation is low and, if
substantial evidence supported the revocation decision, it must be
upheld." (Pet. Br. at 24.) This framing is flat wrong, as is the analysis that
follows. It is true that at the contested hearing stage before the ALJ, DOC

must prove a rules violation by a preponderance of the evidence, as DOC argues. (Pet. Br. at 24); Wis. Admin. Code HA § 2.05(6)(f). However, the ALJ's decision is not final if a timely administrative appeal is filed. Wis. Admin. Code HA § 2.05(7)(i). And the Administrator's review of the ALJ's non-final decision affords it no deference, given that he "may modify, sustain, reverse, or remand the administrative law judge's decision based upon the evidence presented at the hearing and the materials submitted for review." Wis. Admin Code. HA § 2.05(9)(a). Moreover, the administrative appeal of an ALJ's revocation hearing decision is a *de novo* review of the evidence presented before the ALJ. See State ex rel. Foshey v. Department of Health & Social Services, 102 Wis. 2d 505, 516, 307 N.W.2d 315 (Ct. App. 1981). On appeal, this Court reviews the final decision of the agency, which is the Administrator's decision – not the ALJ's – and upholds it if it meets the four criteria listed in *Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 10. This review includes evaluating whether the Administrator's decision – again, *not* the ALJ's – is supported by substantial evidence. *Van* Ermen, 84 Wis. 2d at 64. DOC's pairing of its evidentiary burden for revocation with the substantial evidence test on certiorari review is either legal error or deliberately misleading.

# A. The Administrator acted within his jurisdiction when he decided not to revoke Sellers's probation.

The Administrator's decision was within his jurisdiction under Wis. Stat. § 301.035 and Wis. Admin. Code HA § 2.05(9). The Administrator of DHA has a statutory duty to "be the administrative reviewing authority for decisions of the division." *See* Wis. Stat. § 301.035. Upon an administrative appeal of the decision in a probation revocation hearing,

the "administrator may modify, sustain, reverse, or remand the administrative law judge's decision based upon the evidence presented at the hearing and the materials submitted for review" and shall produce a written decision. *See* Wis. Admin. Code HA § 2.05(9). Here, in accordance with his jurisdiction as defined by statute and administrative code, the Administrator reviewed the ALJ's decision, reversed it, and produced a written decision. (*See* R. 8:72-75; App. 154–56.) The court of appeals noted that DOC conceded the jurisdictional question, and DOC does not appear to dispute it here. *Hayes*, 2024 WI App 37, ¶ 15 (App. 107).

# B. The Administrator acted according to law when he decided not to revoke Sellers's probation.

The Administrator's decision hinged primarily on his determination that relying on K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements would violate Sellers's constitutional rights, and that those statements therefore had to be excluded from evidence—a determination the court of appeals affirmed. *Hayes*, 2024 WI App 37, ¶¶ 15, 21 (*See* R. 8:72-75; App. 106-09, 154-56). DOC chose not to call K.A.B. to testify at Sellers's hearing (R. 8:130) and relied instead on her out-of-court statements to provide her account of the events (R. 7:18-20, 23-24, 33-37, 40-41, 44-45; 8:32-33, 37-40, 87-93, 95-98, 130-31). Agent Kellen testified that she chose not to subpoena K.A.B. for the revocation hearing because "she can't 100% ID her assailant [so] I didn't feel it was necessary to have her come in and provide testimony and go through the trauma of her assault to only say she believes that Mr. Sellers could be the assailant, but she doesn't know 100%." (R. 8:130.)

Sellers's non-hearsay statement asserted that he had never been to K.A.B.'s residence and "did not sexually assault anyone." (R. 7:31.)

The Administrator correctly noted in his decision the "minimum requirements of due process" include "the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation)," citing *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 489 (1972), and that the ALJ did not make such a finding of good cause. (R. 8:72-73; App. 154–55.) The Administrator also evaluated the record *de novo* and found "there was no basis upon which to find good cause." (R. 8:72-73; App. 154–55.) The Administrator concluded that he could not rely upon K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements without violating Sellers's constitutional right to due process, that DOC did not prove the relevant allegations, and that revocation of Sellers's probation was therefore not warranted. (R. 8:73-74; App. 155–56.)

The Administrator's decision to exclude K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements was based on two well-established due process principles: (1) a defendant has a conditional right to confront adverse witnesses during a probation revocation hearing, and (2) there must be good cause to deny a defendant's right to confront adverse witnesses. The Administrator correctly stated and proceeded according to each principle of law in his decision.

1. The Constitution provides a defendant with a conditional right to confront adverse witnesses during a probation revocation hearing.

In revocation cases, a defendant has a Fourteenth Amendment right to confront adverse witnesses. In *Morrissey v. Brewer*, the United States

Supreme Court affirmed that a revocation hearing must incorporate the "minimum requirements of due process." 408 U.S. at 489. This minimum due process includes "the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation)." *Id.* 

Although *Morrissey* involved parole revocation, the Supreme Court extended this holding to probation revocation proceedings. *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 782 (1973) (a case that arose from Wisconsin administrative probation revocation proceedings). The Court held that administrative processes for probation revocation required the "conditional right to confront adverse witnesses" and the other minimum due process guaranteed in *Morrissey*. *Id.* at 786.

In both of those seminal cases, the Supreme Court deemed the right to confront an adverse witness guaranteed unless a hearing officer finds good cause to deny it because confrontation is the only way to ensure that "liberty is not unjustifiably taken away" from a parolee or probationer. *Id.* at 785.

In his decision, the Administrator properly cited and applied those well-established principles of law. (R. 8:72-73; App. 154–55.)

## 2. There must be good cause to deny a defendant's right to confront adverse witnesses.

A hearing officer in a probation revocation hearing must find there is "good cause" to deny a defendant's conditional right to confront adverse witnesses to "protect the defendant against revocation of probation in a constitutionally unfair manner." *Black*, 471 U.S. at 611–13; *see also Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 15 ("an ALJ may not avoid making [a good cause]

finding whenever he or she determines that [hearsay] evidence is reliable."). The court in *Simpson* confirmed that "*Morrissey, Gagnon*, and *Black* hold unequivocally that hearing examiners must specifically find that good cause exists for not allowing confrontation of adverse witnesses." *Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶15. The court further noted that a hearing examiner's failure to specifically make a good cause finding does not *require* automatic reversal. *Id.* at ¶¶ 15–16. "[T]he failure to make a specific finding of good cause is harmless [and therefore permissible] where good cause exists, its basis is found in the record, and its finding is implicit in the ALJ's ruling." *Id.* at ¶ 16.

There are two recognized tests for determining whether "good cause" exists to deny a probationer his constitutional right to confront an adverse witness. *See Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶¶ 20, 22. The good cause analysis involves "a balancing of the need of the probationer in crossexamining the witness and the interest of the State in denying confrontation, including consideration of the reliability of the evidence and the difficulty, expense, or other barriers to obtaining live testimony." *Id.* ¶ 20 (citing Gagnon, 411 U.S. at 782 n.5). Under this "balancing test," a critical factor is whether there was any barrier to obtaining the live testimony of the adverse witness. *Id.* In *Simpson*, the court noted that even in criminal cases, exceptions to the rule barring hearsay may apply and can overcome the defendant's right to confrontation. *Id.* ¶ 21. Therefore, the court concluded that, as an alternative test, good cause to deny confrontation is always shown "when the evidence offered in lieu of an adverse witness's live testimony would be admissible under the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence." *Id.* ¶ 22.

The *Simpson* case addressed whether it was permissible for an ALJ to rely on the testimony of a minor's mother about the minor's out-of-court statements to prove allegations of her sexual abuse, and the court relied on case law specific to child victims to find good cause. *See* 2002 WI App 7, ¶¶ 23–30. The court had previously "upheld a hearing examiner's finding of good cause after both concluding that the hearsay evidence met the excited utterance exception under WIS. STAT. § 908.03 and that it was reasonable not to produce the witness because of the nature of the charge (sexual assault) and the age of the alleged victim (five years old).)" *Id.* ¶ 20 (citing *State ex rel. Harris v. Schmidt*, 69 Wis. 2d 668, 683–84, 230 N.W.2d 890 (1975)). After analyzing the facts before it, the court in *Simpson* concluded "that [the six-year-old victim's] statements possess sufficient circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness to qualify under the residual hearsay exception," and found good cause on that basis. *Id.* ¶ 30.

The Administrator correctly applied both tests for good cause. Under the first test, the Administrator evaluated the record and determined that DOC had demonstrated no "difficulty, expense, or other barriers" to K.A.B.'s testimony that could overcome Sellers's interest in cross-examining her, meaning there was not good cause to deny Sellers's right to confront K.A.B. (R. 8:73; App. 155.) K.A.B. is an adult. (R. 7:18.) No evidence exists in the record suggesting that she was unable to appear at the hearing. Nor is there evidence that K.A.B. was unwilling to participate or that securing her participation created any burden on DOC. As the Administrator noted in the decision, a DOC representative testified that she chose not to present K.A.B. because K.A.B. could not unequivocally identify Sellers as the assailant, and because the DOC representative — not K.A.B. — wished to spare K.A.B. the experience of testifying. (R. 8:130; R.

8:73; App. 155.) Sellers had a strong need to cross examine K.A.B., given that her "account of the events is critical to the DOC's allegations." (R. 8:72; App. 154.) When Agent Kellen testified that K.A.B. could not identify her assailant with certainty, Sellers's interest in cross-examining her only grew stronger. (R. 8:72–73; App. 154–55.) DOC needed to argue some barrier to her testimony that would overcome Sellers's need but failed to raise any real barrier at all. *Id.* As the Administrator correctly noted, there was no basis to find that there was any "difficulty, expense, or other barriers to obtaining live testimony" of K.A.B. (R. 8:73, App. 155); *see Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 20. This precluded a finding of good cause under the first test.

Under the second test, the Administrator evaluated the record and determined "there is no basis to find that K.A.B.'s hearsay statements were admissible under the rules of evidence." (R. 8:73; App. 155.) DOC argues that "DHA did not consider whether the out-of-court statements satisfied the residual exception to the hearsay rule or whether other, non-hearsay statements supported the rule violations." (Pet. Br. at 18.) But DOC offers no reason for this court to believe that the Administrator's analysis of the Rules of Evidence for some reason ignored the residual exception. The residual exception simply did not apply. (See Section III, infra.)

Having found that Sellers had a conditional right to confront adverse witnesses at his revocation hearing, the Administrator went on to cite and apply the relevant law to determine that K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements must be excluded. (R. 8:73; App. 155.) The court of appeals specifically affirmed this aspect of the Administrator's decision, citing the two possible routes for the DOC to establish good cause, and noting that the Administrator examined both and found good cause lacking. *Hayes*,

2024 WI App 37, ¶ 15 (App. 106–07.) Administrator Hayes acted according to law when he conducted his good cause analysis.

# C. The Administrator's decision not to revoke Sellers's probation was not arbitrary, oppressive, or unreasonable.

On a petition for a writ of certiorari review, DOC has the burden of proving that the Administrator's decision was arbitrary and capricious. *See Von Arx v. Schwarz*, 185 Wis. 2d 645, 655, 517 N.W.2d 540 (Ct. App. 1994). "An agency's decision is not arbitrary and capricious and represents its judgment if it represents a proper exercise of discretion." *Id.* at 656 (citing *Van Ermen*, 84 Wis. 2d at 65). An agency properly exercises its discretion by conducting "a reasoning process based on the facts of record" and reaching "a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards." *Id.* (cleaned up).

The court of appeals found, and this Court should agree, that "DHA's actions were not arbitrary, oppressive, or unreasonable," satisfying the third requirement on certiorari review. *Hayes*, 2024 WI App 37 ¶ 21 (App. 109). In making this determination, the court of appeals necessarily determined that the Administrator had based his decision on "proper legal standards." *Von Arx*, 185 Wis. 2d at 655. This means the court of appeals did not "ignore" legal errors made by DHA, as DOC argues (Pet. Br. at 9), but rather, found there had been no error. (*See* section IV, *infra*.)

The Administrator properly exercised his discretion in determining (1) that there was not "good cause" to deny Sellers's Constitutional right to confront K.A.B. and (2) that based on the only proven allegation and the relevant factors, Sellers's probation should not be revoked.

1. The Administrator properly exercised his discretion in determining that there was not good cause to deny Sellers's Constitutional right to confront K.A.B.

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